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Introduction

1. Conservation areas are areas of special architectural and/or historic interest, the
character or appearance of which it is desirable to preserve and enhance.r Unde
Section 61 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) (Scotland) Act
1997, MidlothianCouncilis required b determine which parts of itadministrative
area should be designated as conservation areas.

2. When aConservation Aea has been designated, it is the duty of Midlothian Council to
pay special attention to theharacter or appearance of thefservationArea when
exercising powers under planning legislation. The charactecohservationarea is
not a simple matter bstyle, it is a combination of street layt, building density, scale
andform, and landscape character

3. Conservation areaharacterappraisals are a nestatutory form of planning guidance
recommended as part of the ongoing management of conservation areas. The
purpose of this Conservation Ar€&haracterAppraisal and Management Plan
(CACAMP to:

A Highlight the significance of tH@onservation fea in terms of townscape,
landscapearchitecture and history;

A Provide a framework for conservation area management and for managingehan
within the conservation area; and

A Confirm the importance of the designation of the area

TheCACAN?will define how change is managed within tBenservationArea,

identifying specific opportunities for enhancemeantd itwill inform planning

decisions in th&onservationArea. The purpose of conservation aidesignation and
this CACAMRS not to prevent change. The aim is to identify the key characteristics of
the historic environment and establish a context within which change can continue in
a way which enhances historic character.

4. The Mavisbank Conservation Arasfiown in Figuw 1,is centred on the Mavisbank
Estate, whichs locatedé miles south of Edinburglbetween Loanhead, Lasswade and
Bonnyrigg (Poltonhall)Thepopulationwithin the Conservation iea is approximately
180people TheConservatiorAreastraddles the RiveNorth Esk and is bounded by
Wadingburn Road to the north, Loanhead to the west, Poltonhall (Bonnyrigg) to the
south and Kevock (Lasswade) to the east. villege ofPoltonis the only settlement
within the Conservation Arearlhe focal point for th&€€onservation Area is, however,
the Mavisbank Estate.

5.  The Mavisbank Estate was originally created by Sir John Clerk in collaboration with
William Adam, in the early 18Century. The Category A listedavisbank Housesi
2yS 2F {020f I yrRillas, aritl wasTorle $f202 ( tifihdgtiEi@ik |
houses for many years. It is still of significant architectural importance, despite being




derelict, and is considered to be of European importandavisbank House is set
within adesigned landscapeferred to as the Mavisbank Policie®olicies is a Scots
g2NR T2NJ aaINRdzyRaé¢ 2NJ aSaidl 1Sa¢e

6.  MavisbankConservéion Area was designated in 197The bounday was reviewed
and enlarged in 1992nd 2014 There argour areas of distinct charactey Mavisbank
Policies Polton (including the village, Polton Bank and Polton Raadylingburn Road
andthe southern slope of the North Esk vallejhe Conservation Ardgoundary
overlaps in parts with the following designatigrshiown in Figure:2

A North Esk Valleypecial Landscape Arpa

A MavisbankGarden andesigned Larstape and

A Mavisbank Local Biodiversity Sited River North Esi_asswadgLocal Biodiversity
Site

Figure 1: Mavisbank Conservation Area Boundary
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https://www.historicenvironment.scot/advice-and-support/listing-scheduling-and-designations/gardens-and-designed-landscapes/what-is-the-inventory-of-gardens-and-designed-landscapes/

Mavisbank Conservation Area Character Appraisal & Management Plan

Figure 2Mavisbank Conservation Area and Other Designations
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Historical Development argignificance

Origins of théArea

7. Mavisbank Conservation Area spans the River Norttb&skeen Polton and
Lasswade. Much of the North Esk valley is narrow with stedplansely wooded
sides, but ibpens out a little around Poltqrereating a broader butill steep sided
and largely wooded valleyAlong much of its length, includiag Mavisbank, the River
North Esk runshrough or is bordered by largestatesand former estate landsThe
character of Mavisbank Conservation Area is largely influengeteblandform
resulting from the river, and by the estates lining the banks of the g\Wavisbank
Estate and Polton Estate.
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8.  The main focus of th®lavisbank Conservation Area is the Mavisbank Estalte
Estate was formed by Sir John Clefk Baronet of Penicuik) from land originally
purchased by his father (Sir John ClefkBaronet) as part of Mavisbank Farm. The
farm was purchased with thiatention of building a small house from which th& 1
Baronet could supervise his local coal mining operations more easily than from the
family home in Penicuik.

’

Mavisbank Estate aerial view Aerial view of Conservation Area

9.  The former Polton Estate also lies within the Conservation Area. The estateueds f
in 1500 by Sir David Ramsey from the Abbot of the hospital of St Leonard (Edinburgh).
The estate was purchased by William Calderwood (later Lord Polton) in TiHe
now demolishedPolton Housevas built in the 1700s on a small promontory over the
valley, which was the site of an older house dating from th& déntury. The site of
Polton House is now the Poltonhall Industrial Estate. The summerhouse has survived




10.

andis Category B listed. It sits outwith the boundary of the Mavisbank Conservation
Area.

Y T
o7 i HI;!

Polton House (by Mrs Kenny Stuart 18%) Polton House (Ordnance Survey 1852)

Polton villagedeveloped as a result of the establishment of the Springfield Paper Mill

in 1742 and the Polton Paper Mill in 17&8ich bothutilised the power of the River

North Esk. The site of the Polton Paper Mill lies within the Conservation Area. The
site belonggo Midlothian Council, and following the demolition of the former mill
buildings, has been reaturalised. The site of Springfield Mill is not within the
Conservation Area. The mill buildings were demolished and the site has been restored
for wildlife, managed by the Midlothian Council Ranger Service. It is a designated
Local Biodiversity Sit&he paper mills were served by the Esk Valley Railway, which
was a branch from the EdinburgPeebles railway, from the 1860s to the 1960s.

R
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Polton Péber Mill 1974 - Polton Bowling Green 2020

Archaeological & Historical Significance

11.

The great estates, combined with the industrial development along the North Esk in
the 18" and 19" centuries, has led to strong relationships between the buildings and
landscapes of the valley and a rich and complex set of literary, artistic and
architectural associationsDuring the mid18" century there were claims that the

River Esk was the mostdustrialised 17 miles in the whole of Europehe water of

the North Esk provided power for numerous industries along its bank for centuries,
leading to the construction of more than 20 weirs along its length and leaving a
significant legacy of industiiheritage andarchaeology. This industrial development
also had a significant effect on the pattern of built development and urban expansion
along the river.The whole of the North Esk Valley has important historic and cultural




12.

13.

associations, which ovéime had significant influence on Scottish cultural,lded
Mavisbank is key part of this.

Sir John Clerk {2Baronet of Penicuik) was a lawyer and politician. He was

instrumental in the Act of Union between England and Scotland in 1707, and served

on the first joint Government of the United Kingdom. Alongside his role in edfly 18

Century British political andultural history, he was a central figuirethe Scottish

Enlightenment (the period ithe 18" and early 1% centuriescharacterised by an

outpouring of intellectual and scientific accomplishments which exerted significant

cultural influence).{ ANJ W2 Ky gl a {O02Gfl yRQa fSIRAy3 LIJ
GFradsSé Ay GKSCenuNBaHe wislard erthuidstic @ftiduarisnyand

improver of his estates. He was alsoimportant patron of the architect William

Adam, with whom helesigned Mavisbank House and Policies.

Sir John Clerk William Adam

MavisbankHousewas intended to be a summer pavilion rather tharK S FI YA f @ Q&
principal residencewhich remained at Penicuik HousklavisbankHouse andhe

designed landscape of the Policies provided Sir John with the opportunity to put into

LIN OGAOS (KS @gAraAirzy KS aSid 2dzi Ay KAA LIRS
LJdzof AAKSR AY MTHT® al gAaol yilabm@dgza@mal a { O:
SEFYLX S 2F | WOAtEI Q odzAf (0 ¢ AThedesigndd2 Y Y dzii A
the house is Palladian in form, sketched by Sir John Clerk on the basis of Dutch

examples, and finalised by William Adam with added Baroque detdiadla

profound influence a Scottish architecturgnspiring a generation of country houses

with symmetrical plans, curved wgs and classical ornamentatiolhis a Category A

listed building.
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Front elevation of Mavisbank House by William Adam, gbklil in Vitruvius Scoticus




oOn Escadbds Fflowry banks 1
Where the harmonious Thrush repeats its love.

There lle observes the precepts you indite,

But never any more attempt to wiite
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14. Polton Paper Mill was originally established in 1750, and by the 1780s was owned by
William Simpsonwho was responsible for a number of papermaking innovations in
Scotland Thesdancluded introducing the use of chlorine bleach in whitening paper,
the tub-sizing of writing paper to improve the absorption of ink, mechanical agitation
of the stuff chest and steam heated vats. The Esk Valley Railway opened in 1867 to
serve the Polton Paper Mill, the neighbouring Springfield Mill and Kevockliilas
a branch line off the Edinburgh to Peebles railway. One of the significant features of
the Esk Valley Railway was the Lasswade Viaduct, a six arch viaduct with a gentle
curve. The viaduct was designed by Thomas Bouch, designer of the first Tay Bridge
which collapsed in 1879, and is a Category B listed structure.

Polton Station (irca 110) Lasswade Viaduct (aerial view)




Townscapand Landscape Settikgalysis

15.

Four areas of distinct character can be identified in Mavisbank Conservation Area
(shown in Figure 3 below)Mavisbank Policies, Polton (including the village, Polton
Bank and Polton Road), Wadingburn Road and the southern slope of the North Esk
valley. These character areas are simply a means of describing areas of common
characteristics (architectural, hmtical and layout) within this appraisal. They have no
administrative, legal or other significance.

Figure 3: Character AremsMavisbank Conservation Area

5 4 D Conservation Area
N Mavisbank Polices
Polton

Southern Slope

Wadingbum Road

Architectural Quality & Built Form

16.

17.

Mavisbank Policies Character Arééavisbank Policies &sdesigned landscape laid out
in the early 18 century around Mavisbank Hous&he grounds comprisia loch,
woodlands, a walled garden, walks, viewpoints, open pasture, fields and several
structureswhich had ornamental and/or functional roles in thstate, including a
doocot andagame larder The location of the House was chosen in response to the
a w 2 YStayiore ¢ a mound to the soutkwest of the house which was said to be
Roman, but is more likely to have been an Iron Age site, although thece is
archaeological evidence to indicate the nature of theund. The relationship of this
GF 2 NI ¢ ( was & mefor détdramiabt ahe central axis of the designed
landscapeas was the natural topography of the valley and the setting it provides

Key surviving featres of theoriginaldesigned landscapé¢hat integrate the house and

its policiesA Y Of dzZRS G KS F2NXIf FEA& fSIRAYy3I FTNRY




18.

19.

the central aenue terminating in the Doocottaces of theNJ RA | (1 Afe&¢ G322 4 S

avenuesand the walled garden, drives and pathEielochan(small loch)s a key
feature of the landscape and was formed irf"i&ntury from the original ornamental
canal as part of wider changes to a more natistgle landscape in the estate.

The originalMavisbank landscape is chiefly important as the embodiment of the early

18" century intellectual and aesthetic concerns of its creator, Sir John Clerk. Both the

house and the landscape were conceived as an integral whole to demonstrate all

FaLSOda 2F aGKS w2Yly [AFS¢E SalLkRdzaSR o@

gentlemen. The careful and artistic integration of the House and Policies is an
important feature which has survived throughout the changes experienced by the
Estate. It is the later phase of the landscape from the latd" B8id early 19

centuries that is mostwadent today¢ drives, paths, plantations, parkland atmthan
are all in this later formThe Policies are now an important publically accessible
greenspacend designated as a Local Biodiversity.Site

Mavisbank & Polton (Ordnance Survey 1892)

Thehouse was built between 1723 and 1727 and was designed by Sir John Clerk (2
Baronet of Penicuikj collaboration with William Adam, who was the foremost
architect in Scotland at the timelThe architecturastyle of the housewvas mainly
influenced bythe Palladian stylef Sir John Clenkith Baroque influencefom

William Adam Mavisbank is considered by many to be the first example of this style
of country house, inspiring a new generation of villas, for example Arniston House
near Gorebridge andakton House near Duns. The Clerk family sold the house in
1815 and substantial additions were made to the house between 1820 and 1840. In
1877 further extensionwere added and the house, #@®amed New Saughton Hall,
became an asylum. When the asylumseld in 1953, it was sold to a private owner
and the house was taken back to its original external form. The Hoaséeen
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